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DIRECTOR OF DEPARTMENT
)

OF PUBLIC SAFETY,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 11-1079 PO



)

DAVID L. DAUSMAN,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION


David L. Dausman is subject to discipline because he committed the criminal offenses of patronizing prostitution, acceding to corruption by a public servant, distribution of a controlled substance, and forgery.
Procedure


On May 31, 2011, the Director of the Department of Public Safety (“the Director”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Dausman.  On June 20, 2011, Dausman was served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing by certified mail.  Dausman did not file an answer.  

On December 12, 2011, the Director filed a motion for summary decision with suggestions in support.  Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.446(6) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if the Director establishes facts that Dausman does not dispute and entitle 
the Director to a favorable decision.  Dausman filed a response on December 30, 2011, in which he takes responsibility for his actions.  He does not contest the motion.

Findings of Fact

1. Dausman is licensed as a peace officer.  His license was current and active at all relevant times.
2. On February 19, 2009, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri, an indictment was filed against Dausman, which states in relevant part as follows:

Between on or about August 8, 2008 and January 30, 2009, in the Eastern District of Missouri, DAVID L. DAUSMAN, the defendant herein, did knowingly affix and impress a fraudulently made, forged and counterfeited seal of the United States Department of Homeland Security upon a document dated February 25, 2003, for the purpose of bolstering his Wellston Police Department personnel file by fraudulently representing that he had graduated from the Criminal Investigator Course at the Federal Law Enforcement Academy located in Glynco, Georgia whereas in truth and in fact, as the defendant then knew, he never attended the Criminal Investigator Course at the Federal Law Enforcement Academy[,] in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 506(a)(2).
3. On July 2, 2009, Dausman pled guilty to fraudulent use of a United States Department of Homeland Security seal.  He was sentenced to two years’ probation.

4. On May 27, 2009, in the Circuit Court of St. Louis County, Missouri, an indictment was filed against Dausman, which states in relevant part as follows: 
Count:  01 . . .
That David Dausman, in violation of Section 195.211, RSMo, committed the class B felony of delivery of a controlled substance, punishable upon conviction under Section 558.011, RSMo, in that on or about January 26th, 2009, in the County of St. Louis, State of Missouri, the defendant knowingly delivered heroin, a controlled substance, to D.J., knowing that it was a controlled substance.

Count:  02
That David Dausman, in violation of Section 576.020, RSMo, committed the class D felony of acceding to corruption, punishable upon conviction under Sections 558.011.1(4) and 560.011, RSMo, in that on or about December 16th, 2008, in the County of St. Louis, State of Missouri, the defendant, being a police officer, knowingly solicited from D.J. a benefit, namely, sexual favors, in return for his violation of his known legal duty as a police officer, namely, to uphold and enforce the laws of the State of Missouri.

Count:  03
That David Dausman, in violation of Section 567.030, RSMo, committed the class B misdemeanor of patronizing prostitution, punishable upon conviction under Sections 558.011 and 560.016, RSMo, in that on or about December 16th, 2008, in the County of St. Louis, State of Missouri, defendant knowingly patronized prostitution in that defendant agreed to give money to D.J. on an understanding that in return therefor D.J. would engage in sexual intercourse with defendant.
5. On or about September 14, 2009, Dausman was arrested by the Madison County, Illinois Sheriff’s Department for unlawful possession of a firearm by a felon and false impersonation of a police officer.

6. On or about September 14, 2009, a search warrant was executed at Dausman’s residence located in Collinsville, Missouri.  During the search, officers located numerous police badges, police uniforms, handcuffs, stun guns, case/boxes of ammunition, counterfeit currency, an automatic pistol, shotguns, and rifles, including an assault rifle for which a receipt for its purchase, with Dausman’s name on it, was found.  

7. On August 18, 2010, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri revoked Dausman’s probation due to his commission of another crime and his possessing firearms, and sentenced Dausman to serve 10 months’ imprisonment on the conviction for fraudulent use of a United States Department of Homeland Security seal.

8. On April 4, 2011, Dausman pled guilty in the Circuit Court of St. Louis County, Missouri, to delivery of a controlled substance, acceding to corruption by a public officer, and patronizing prostitution.  He was sentenced to five years, four years, and six months’ imprisonment respectively for each offense, with all sentences to be served concurrently with each other and with the federal conviction.
Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear the complaint.
  The Director has the burden of proving that Dausman has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The Director argues that there is cause for discipline under § 590.080:

1.  The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:

*   *   *

(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed;
(3) Has committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]
Commission of a Criminal Offense - § 590.080.1(2)


Dausman was convicted of fraudulent use of a United States Department of Homeland Security seal.  18 U.S.C. § 506(a)(2) states:

(a) Whoever--

*   *   *

(2) knowingly uses, affixes, or impresses any such fraudulently made, forged, counterfeited, mutilated, or altered seal or facsimile thereof to or upon any certificate, instrument, commission, document, or paper of any description; or 

*   *   *

shall be fined under this title, or imprisoned not more than 5 years, or both.

Dausman was also convicted of delivery of a controlled substance.  Section 195.211 states in relevant part:

1.  Except as authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425 and except as provided in section 195.222, it is unlawful for any person to distribute, deliver, manufacture, produce or attempt to distribute, deliver, manufacture or produce a controlled substance or to possess with intent to distribute, deliver, manufacture, or produce a controlled substance.

*   *   *

3.  Any person who violates or attempts to violate this section with respect to any controlled substance . . . is guilty of a class B felony.

Dausman was also convicted of acceding to corruption.  Section 576.020
 states in relevant part:

1.  A public servant commits the crime of acceding to corruption if he knowingly solicits, accepts or agrees to accept any benefit, direct or indirect, in return for:
(1) His official vote, opinion, recommendation, judgment, decision, action or exercise of discretion as a public servant; or
(2) His violation of a known legal duty as a public servant.
2.  Acceding to corruption by a public servant is a class D felony.
Dausman was also convicted of patronizing prostitution.  Section 567.030 states in relevant part:

1.  A person commits the crime of patronizing prostitution if he patronizes prostitution.


Dausman was convicted of the above referenced crimes.  A conviction collaterally estops the issue of whether the person committed the criminal offense.
  Dausman committed the 
criminal offenses of fraudulent use of a United States Department of Homeland Security seal, delivery of a controlled substance, acceding to corruption, and patronizing prostitution.
Commission of an Act Under Color of 
Law that Involves Moral Turpitude - § 590.080.1(3)

In Brehe v. Missouri Dep't of Elementary and Secondary Education,
 which involved discipline of a teacher's certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court referred to three classifications of crimes:

(1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude, such as frauds (Category 1 crimes);

(2) crimes “so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude,” such as illegal parking (Category 2 crimes); and

(3) crimes that “may be saturated with moral turpitude,” yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee (Category 3 crimes).
The Supreme Court has held that “[c]orruption is a very broad word, and, as usually spoken or written, means moral turpitude, or exactly the opposite of honesty.”
  (Emphasis added.)  To accede to corruption is to consent or agree to it.
  The crime of acceding to corruption is therefore, by definition, a Category 1 crime.  
However, the Director has not provided us with any information beyond the allegations of Count II of the indictment (and Dausman’s guilty plea) as to what happened.  Neither the complaint nor the Director’s motion for summary decision and suggestions in support alleges that Dausman was on active duty or acted under color of law while committing the crime of accession to corruption.
  Further, none of the records of the federal and state prosecutions attached to the motion contains any such facts.  But we can nonetheless find that Dausman 
acceded to corruption under color of law by looking at the indictment itself, which alleges that he:
knowingly solicited from D.J. a benefit, namely, sexual favors, in return for his violation of his known legal duty as a police officer, namely, to uphold and enforce the laws of the State of Missouri.

(Emphasis added.)  Therefore, Dausman misused his position as a police officer to obtain sexual favors.  The Supreme Court has held that a misuse of power possessed by virtue of state law is an action taken under color of law.
  Under Missouri law, Dausman’s guilty plea is an admission that he committed the act alleged in the indictment.
  Therefore, Dausman is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(3) for commission of an act that involved moral turpitude.
Summary

Dausman is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(2) and (3).  We grant the motion for summary decision and cancel the hearing.

SO ORDERED on January 18, 2012.



_________________________________



SREENIVASA   RAO   DANDAMUDI



Commissioner

�Because sentence was imposed, we also refer to these as convictions.


�Section 621.045.  Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to RSMo Supp. 2010.


�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


�RSMo 2000.


�Carr v. Holt, 134 S.W.3d 647, 649 (Mo. App., E.D. 2004) (citing James v. Paul, 49 S.W.3d 678, 682-83 (Mo. banc 2001)).


��HYPERLINK "http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=4644&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2011444175"��213 S.W.3d 720 (Mo. App., W.D. 2007)�.


��HYPERLINK "http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2011444175"��Id��HYPERLINK "http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2011444175"��. at 725� (quoting �HYPERLINK "http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=350&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&SerialNum=1955121045&ReferencePosition=852"��Twentieth Century-Fox Film Corp. v. Lardner, 216 F.2d 844, 852 (9th Cir. 1954)�).


�State v. Douglass, 144 S.W. 407, 407 (Mo. 1912).


�Black’s Law Dictionary 12 (9th ed.).


�The motion for summary decision and suggestions in support allege that Dausman was “on duty” when he committed the offense, but the statute requires that he be on “active duty.”  We were also not told which police department employed him when this incident occurred.


�United States v. Classic, 313 U.S. 299, 326 (1941).


�State v. Armstrong, 433 S.W.2d 270, 272 (Mo. 1968); Thurman v. State, 263 S.W.3d 744, 752 (Mo. App., E.D. 2008).
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